### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 64 \$29

HAROLD W. HOOPER,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR NASSAU COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HAROLD W. HOOPER,

Appellant, :

v. : CASE NO. 64,299

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

\_\_\_\_\_:

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

HAROLD HOOPER is the appellant in this case. Because the victims in this case were relatives, there may be some confusion about names. To clarify any possible confusion that may exist the following clarification is presented: Harold Hooper will be referred to throughout the brief as Hooper. James Hooper, Hooper's brother, will be referred to as James Hooper. Jimmy Hooper, James Hooper's adopted son will be referred to as either Jimmy or Jimmy Hooper. Rhonda Hooper will be referred to as either Rhonda or Rhonda Hooper. Kathaleen Hooper will be referred to as either Kathaleen, Kathy, or Kathaleen Hooper.

References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. References to the transcript of testimony will be by the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

#### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed by the grand jury of Nassau County on September 17, 1982, charged Harold Hooper, the appellant, with two counts of first degree murder and one count of attempted first degree murder (R-2900-2901). Subsequently, Hooper filed several pretrial motions, but the ones of particular relevance to this appeal were:

- 1. Motions for physical and psychiatric examination of James Scott Hooper (R-3034-3037) Denied (T-185,219,224)
- 2. Motion in limine to prohibit questioning of jurors regarding their attitudes towards capital punishment (R-3051-3054). Denied (T-232,305).
- 3. Motion for additional peremptory challenges (R-3060-3061). Denied with leave to renew at the conclusion of voir dire (R-276).
- 4. Motion for appointment of expert to assist defense and motion for taxing of costs (R-3066-3068). Denied (R-3175, T-213,216).
- 5. Motion for a proffer of testimony and supplement to motion for appointment of expert to assist the defense counsel and to tax costs (R-3146-3147). Denied (R-3172).
- 6. Motion to waive Hooper's presence during voir dire (R-299). Denied (R-302).

Hooper proceeded to trial on June 20, 1983, before the Honorable James L. Harrison, and after hearing the evidence, law, and argument, the jury found Hooper guilty of two counts of first degree murder and one count of attempted second degree murder (R-3308).

Additional testimony was heard during the sentencing phase of the trial, and the jury returned, by a vote of 9 to 3, a death recommendation (R-3336).

The court, following the jury's recommendation, sentenced Hooper to death for each murder and 15 years for the attempted second degree murder conviction to run consecutively to each death sentence (R-3400-3405).

In aggravation, the court found:

1. As to Kathaleen Hooper and Rhonda Hooper:

a. Hooper had a conviction for a prior violent felony (R-3424-3426).

- b. The murder was committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner (R-3428-3429).
- 2. As to Rhonda Hooper:
  - a. Hooper committed the murder to avoid or prevent lawful arrest (R-3426-3427).
  - b. Hooper committed the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R-3430-3431).

In mitigation, the court found:

- 1. Hooper had served in the Army.
- 2. Hooper had served in the Salvation Army.
- 3. Hooper had a present dedication to Christian principles (R-3423).

This appeal follows.

#### III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

August 19, 1982, was a long day for 12 year old Jimmy Hooper (T-1409), his sister Rhonda, and his mother. About 9:00 p.m. they had gone to a Flash Food Store in Fernandina Beach where Kathaleen worked so she could do a money check (T-1415). Jimmy left them and wandered about for a while, but eventually, his mother picked him up and they returned to their home at the Marsh Cove Apartments, also in Fernandina Beach (R-1416).

Jimmy made himself a sandwich then went to his room to listen to some music (R-1418-1419). After a while, he turned off the music and went to sleep (T-1424). Before falling asleep, however, he heard Harold Hooper, his uncle, enter the apartment (T-1421). Hooper was living with his brother, James Hooper, Jimmy's adoptive father (T-1411,1412), while he looked for work (T-1629). After a few minutes, Hooper came into Jimmy's darkened room (T-1421) to get something out of a closet (T-1422). Jimmy pretended he was asleep (T-1423). A short time later Hooper returned but only opened the door to Jimmy's room; his breathing was ragged like he was out of breath (T-1423). Hooper left and Jimmy drifted off to sleep (T-1424).

Sometime later Jimmy was awakened by someone beating him over the head with

something hard covered by a white pillow case (T-1424-1425). Jimmy thought it l was Hooper (T-1424). His attacker hit him on the head seven or eight times (T-1425), causing serious injuries. As the assailant left, Jimmy was crying and hollering (T-1425). Jimmy then apparently fainted (T-1427).

He was awakened in the morning, however, by his father, a truck driver, who had just returned from work (T-1428,1626,1635). In the living room, James Hooper found the body of his wife, and in the master bedroom he found his daughter's body (T-1636,1638). His wife had several stab wounds in her neck, chest, and back (T-1367-1369) plus some superficial "defensive" wounds on her arms (T-1375). One of her fingers was almost severed, as if she had tried to grab the knife of her attacker (T-1380). Rhonda also had some stab wounds in her neck (T-1386), but the cause of her death was strangulation (T-1389).

Blood was all over the bedroom and living room, and blood consistent with Hooper's blood type was found in the hallway (T-1770,1772), master bedroom (T-1777), bathroom (T-1787), near the stereo (T-1771), on a white garbage bag in the living room (T-1775), on Jimmy's clothes (T-1790), and on the garrote used to strangle Rhonda (T-1793).

For Hooper, the 19th of August was also a long day. Since coming to Florida from Ohio he had regularly eaten at the Seahut Restaurant in Jacksonville (T-1892, 1906). He had struck up a friendship with George Rivenbark, the manager of the restaurant (T-1891), and eventually the two agreed to go into business together (T-1898). Hooper, however, misled Rivenbark, and by the 19th Hooper was depressed about what to do (T-1905,2102).

At trial, George Delmar, an acquaintance of Jimmy's, said that Jimmy told him he was unsure that Hooper attacked him (T-2043,2049).

While some burn marks were on Kathaleen Hooper's neck (T-1372), the cause of her death was the knife wounds (T-1380). Moreover, while death would have occurred within five to ten minutes (T-1383), unconsciousness would have been lost within five to ten seconds (T-1383).

Unfortunately Hooper was an alcoholic (see presentence investigation report), and starting sometime in the afternoon of the 19th, he began drinking (T-1880, 2102). One employee of the Seahut saw him drink three beers, which was unusual because she had never seen Hooper drink liquor (T-1880). Over the next several hours as Hooper brooded over what to tell Rivenbark (T-2102), he drank 10 to 12 beers, at least a half bottle of wine (T-2140) (and perhaps as much as three bottles of wine), and a considerable amount of whiskey (T-2102,2102,2140-2141, 3 2155). He was, as he put it, "feeling no pain." (T-2141).

Hooper was supposed to pick Rivenbark up at the bus station about 1:40 a.m. on the morning of the 20th (T-1893). About 1:00 a.m., however, Hooper decided to avoid a confrontation with Rivenbark by returning to Ohio (T-2102). He wandered about, drank some more liquor (T-2103), and finally went to his car where he blacked out (T-2103). Later, he regained consciousness when his car hit the back end of a truck (T-2103). Little damage was done, and eventually he drove to the Marsh Cove Apartments (T-2104).

When he got there, however, the door to Hooper's apartment was locked, and after a few minutes he walked through the sun porch door (T-2108). He hollered for Kathy, James Hooper's wife, but got no response (T-2108).

He heard some feet running and was suddenly confronted by a man who hit him on the head, knocking him out (T-2108,2109). When he came to, he staggered about for some time, wiping blood out of his eyes (T-2145). He saw Kathy's and Rhonda's bodies and felt for their pulses (T-2172). He became sick and went to the bathroom where he vomited (T-2107,2111). He could not find a telephone, and he got in his car and blacked out (T-2112). Somewhere he hit a tree (T-2112). That was the last thing he remembered until he was outside of Macon, Georgia (T-2112).

 $<sup>^3</sup>$ At this time Hooper weighed 325 pounds and was six feet eight inches tall (T-2141).

By then he did not recall what he had seen in the apartment, and he drove to a Salvation Army Building in Cincinnati (T-2112-2113) where he signed in using his name (T-2115).

A few days later, the Ohio police began looking for Hooper and eventually they focused upon Hooper's residence at the Salvation Army. Several policemen converged upon the building, and when someone told Hooper they were looking for him, he told that person that he had only taken money but not the gun (T-1236,2116). He ran to the second story roof of the building (T-1912), and several times he went to the edge, apparently deciding whether to jump (T-1914,1915). Finally, he broke a window, picked up a piece of the broken glass and started to slash his wrists (T-1915).

By this time, a policeman was near him and talked to Hooper, trying to get him to surrender (T-1951), and eventually he did (T-1953).

When questioned initially Hooper said he wanted to see a lawyer (T-2273). The police stopped questioning, but shortly thereafter they gave him a copy of a search warrant (T-2279). Shaken by what he had read (T-2283), Hooper asked to see the police, and when brought before them he asked if what was in the affidavit was true (T-2283). When told he had beaten Jimmy Hooper, he was physically shaken, and he broke down and cried (T-2320). The police said they wanted to talk with him, but Hooper only wanted to know "if this is right, I want to know if this is true?" (T-2283). After Hooper signed a rights waiver form (T-2284), he told the police that he had drunk a lot of beer and wine on the 19th and had experienced blackouts (T-2300). He denied, at that time, that he went

Apparently this was a reference to the money he had taken from the Seahut Restaurant (T-2116).

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$ Later, Hooper's memory of what happened on the 19th and 20th partially returned (T-2126).

to the Marsh Cove Apartments although he said he could have (T-2301). When he drank, things got worse (T-2317), he had "flashes," and something finally breaks, it did so every time (T-2313). Three months later, his memory of what happened on the 19th returned in bits and pieces, and then, for the first time, he mentioned the attack on him (T-2126). Significantly, he had a scar on his head where he said he had been hit (T-2212).

James and Kathaleen Hooper's marriage apparently had some rough spots.

They had had several arguments about James hitting Jimmy as a means of discipline 7

(T-1661). Also, on the day before the murder, the couple had had another argument over a speeding ticket James Hooper had recently received (T-1664).

James also was the beneficiary of a \$21,000.00 insurance policy he had taken out on his wife and daughter (T-1649). He had paid some bills and bought a car with the money; he had, however, paid none of the funeral expenses for his wife and daughter (T-1651).

While in Ohio making funeral arrangements (T-1650), James began sleeping with Cindy Hooper, Hooper's ex-wife (T-1650). Since October 1982 they have lived together (T-1649,1650).

Moreover, Hooper admitted falsifying his driving log for the 19th and 20th of August (T-1665-1666).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Counsel moved for a mistrial when the state witness said Hooper said "Something finally breaks, it does so every time." (T-2160).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The court excluded the rest of this statement of the facts as irrelevant (T-1657). Hooper was very close to Jimmy and Rhonda, and he often took Jimmy fishing or to a video arcade (T-1442,1469). Rhonda occasionally would hug and kiss Hooper (T-1435).

#### IV ARGUMENT

## ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING HOOPER'S PRESENCE DURING INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE IN CHAMBERS WHEN HOOPER MADE A VOLUNTARY AND KNOWING REQUEST NOT TO BE PRESENT, IN VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Immediately before the Court started individual voir dire of prospective jurors in its chambers, Hooper waived his right to be present during this part of the jury selection (T-299-300). He did so because of his "extremely large size" (Hooper is six feet eight inches tall and weighed 325 pounds) (R-2141) which he believed might intimidate the jurors (T-300). Initially, the court granted the motion (T-300), but upon state argument that Rule 3.180(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure prevents a waiver of defendant's presence (T-301-302), the court reversed itself and denied the motion (T-303,311) even after Hooper, under oath, said he did not want to be present at the "preliminary stages" of the jury 8 questioning (T-341). The court, however, erred by requiring Hooper's presence.

Hooper, of course, has a constitutional right to be present at the stages of his trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted by his absence. Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 775 (Fla. 1983). Nevertheless, because requiring Hooper's presence is for his benefit and not necessarily for the state's, he can, if he so chooses to do so, voluntarily absent himself from all or portions of his trial. Id. at 1177. Adopting a position that he cannot waive his rights would inpinge severely upon his right to present his defense, to have effective assistance of counsel, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The jury selection was divided into two parts. The first part included an in chambers examination of individual jurors regarding their knowledge of the case and opinions concerning capital punishment. The second phase focused upon the traditional voir dire examination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Although this has been held to be true for non-capital cases, Hooper can think of no legal reason why a capital defendant cannot likewise waive his presence. Id. fn.2.

with respect to this case, to have an impartial jury.

There is little support in the law or in common sense for the proposition that an informed waiver of a right may be ineffective even where voluntarily made. Indeed, the law is exactly to the contrary,

\* \* \*

Unless an individual is incompetent, we have in the past rejected any paternalistic rule protecting a defendant from his intelligent and voluntary decisions about his own criminal case. To do so would be to "imprison a man in his privileges," and to disregard "that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law."

<u>Michigan v. Moseley</u>, 423 U.S. 96, 46 L.Ed. 2d 313, 96 S.Ct. 321 (1975) (White, concurring) (cites omitted).

Accordingly, the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Johnson v. Zerbst</u>, 304 U.S. 458, 82 L.Ed. 1461, 58 S.Ct. 1019 (1938) held that a properly waived right can waive any jurisdictional impediment to the right to assistance of counsel. Moreover, not only may the right to counsel be waived, but also the right to have the judge present during jury selection may be waived. <u>Peri v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). In fact,

A party may waive any right to which he is legally entitled whether secured by contract, conferred by statute or quaranteed by the Constitution.

Belaire Securities Corp. v. Brown, 124 Fla. 47, 83, 168 So. 625, 639 (1936).

Consequently, Hooper could waive his right to be present during part of jury selection, and he can think of no legal reason why the state should be able to control Hooper's defense tactics by insisting he be present.

Evidently, it was a tactical decision for Hooper to be absent. The reasons for this decision were obvious. The voir dire was conducted in chambers, and owing to Hooper's size, and presence relatively near any prospective juror, counsel and Hooper legitimately believed that the jurors might be intimidated

by Hooper if he was present. With him being present, the jurors might not be completely candid in their responses. Of course short of asking the jurors if they were intimidated, there is no way that counsel could show such apprehension. Yet, the court denied counsel's attempts to inquire into the possibility of juror intimidation (T-437). Counsel, therefore, was precluded from discovering if any actual prejudice existed. Nevertheless, because of Hooper's size and the in chambers inquiry, the court denied Hooper's constitutional right to an impartial jury by forcing him to exercise his constitutional right to be present at the critical stages of his trial. Because this Court cannot assess the extent of the prejudice, if any, Hooper may have sustained by the trial court's ruling, this Court must reverse for a new trial. Francis at 1179.

## ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT EXCLUDING VENIREMAN HAGAN BECAUSE OF HIS UNAMBIGUOUS DECISION TO AUTOMATICALLY RECOMMEND THE DEATH SENTENCE FOR ANY MURDER.

10

The accused in a capital case, just as much as the state and maybe more so, has a right to a jury composed of persons who can and will consider the full range of punishment; consequently, the refusal to grant a challenge for cause to a juror who would automatically vote for a death sentence in every case, or in a particular kind of case regardless of whatever mitigating circumstances might be presented, violates the accused's right to an impartial jury, guaranteed by the federal and Florida Constitutions. See Thomas v. State, 403 So.2d 371, 375-376 (Fla. 1981); Crawford v. State, 395 F.2d 297,303-304 (4th Cir. 1968);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The accused's right may be considered even more compelling than the state's, since the state has no constitutional right to the imposition of capital punishment in any particular case [Crawford v. Bounds, supra, at 312], while the accused has a constitutional right to an impartial jury.

Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 564 F. Supp. 459,487 (M.D. Fla. 1983); Patterson v. State, 283 S.E.2d 212,214-16 (Va. 1981); Smith v. State, 573 S.W. 2d 543 (Tex. Cr. App. 1977). See especially Cuevas v. State, 575 S.W. 2d 543 (Tex. Cr. App. 1978) (defense challenge for cause to prospective juror who would automatically vote for death penalty in all cases of intentional murder unless insanity was proven should have been granted; judgment and sentence reversed); Pierce v. State, 604 S.W. 2d 185 (Tex. Cr. App. 1980) (defense challenge for cause to prospective juror who would automatically vote for death penalty in all cases of robbery-murder should have been granted; judgment and sentence reversed).

Bias against the defendant in the sentencing aspect of a capital case amounts to a "fundamental violation . . . [of] the express requirements in the sixth amendment to the United States Constitution and in Article I, section 16, of the Florida Constitution, that an accused be tried by 'an impartial jury'" Thomas v. State, 403 So.2d 371,375 (Fla. 1981). It is error to deny a challenge for cause to a prospective juror who harbors such a bias. Thomas v. State, supra; Smith v. State, supra; Cuevas v. State, supra; Pierce v. State, supra. Where there is any reasonable doubt as to a juror's possessing the requisite state of mind as to render an impartial verdict (as to quilt or penalty or both), the defendant must be given the benefit of the doubt, and the juror should be excused for cause. See Blackwell v. State, 101 Fla. 997, 132 So. 468 (1931); Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7, 23 (Fla. 1959); Leon v. State, 396 So.2d 203,205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). A juror's statement that he can and will return a verdict according to the evidence and the law is not determinative of his competency, if it appears from other statements made by him that he is not possessed of a state of mind which will enable him to do so. Singer v. State, supra; Leon v. State, supra; see Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717 (1961); Johnson v. Reynolds, 97 Fla. 591, 121 So. 793 (1929); Williams v. State, 440 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). In reviewing a trial court's refusal to excuse for cause prospective jurors who acknowledged having "automatic death penalty" beliefs, the appellate court must look at "the overall picture presented by the voir dire examination" of the challenged juror, to determine whether "[his] testimony as a whole indicated an inability to consider the full range of punishment."

Smith v. State, supra, at 765; Cuevas v. State, supra, at 545; Pierce v.

State, supra, at 187.

In <u>Pierce v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, prospective juror Crenshaw clearly indicated in voir dire that he would automatically vote for the death penalty in any case in which the defendant was convicted of robbery-murder. The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals, in reversing the judgment and death sentence, wrote:

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