#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HAROLD W. HOOPER,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 64,299

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUL 12 1984

CLERK SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS H. BATEMAN, III ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0290

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Even if this Honorable Court finds the trial judge erred in failing to give Appellant's requested jury instruction on voluntary intoxication, Appellee submits any error by the failure

to give said instruction was "harmless error" beyond a reasonable doubt. Because of the facts and circumstances of the instant case, the evidence was so overwhelming that no rational jury could have reached a different result. See Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 92 S.Ct. 1056, 31 L.Ed.2d 340 (1972). While a defendant is entitled to a fair trial he is not entitled to a perfect one, Bruton\_v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968) citing Lutwak v. United States, 344 U.S. 604, 97 L.Ed. 593, 73 S.Ct. 481 (1953), and where the independent evidence is so overwhelming, even constitutional error can be rendered harmless. Palmes v. State, supra; Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (1974), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911, 96 S.Ct. 3226, 49 L.Ed.2d 1220, rehearing denied, 429 U.S. 873, 97 S.Ct. 190, 50 L.Ed.2d 154. Appellee submits that while the jury may have found Appellant had been drinking on the night in question prior to finding the murders, the failure of the judge to give the requested jury instruction on voluntary intoxication was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence against Appellant and by the fact he was not relying on intoxication as a theory of defense. This Court stated the principle relied on in another way over three decades ago in Kelly v. State, 199 So. 764 (Fla. 1941). Citing Hopkins v. State, 52 Fla. 39, 42 So. 52, 53, the Court said:

Alleged errors in giving or refusing charges or instructions, and in the admission or rejection of testimony, which do not weaken the effect of the admitted testimony, and which do not reach the legality of the trial itself, will not be considered grounds for reversal where the evidence leaves no room for reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt. (Citations omitted).

Although, in a capital case, the Supreme Court will carefully scrutinize any error before determining it to be harmless, Pait v. State, 112 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1959), it will not presume there is prejudice. Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 885, 100 S.Ct. 177, 62 L.Ed.2d 115 (1975), rehearing denied, 444 U.S. 975, 100 S.Ct. 474, 62 L.Ed.2d 393 (1978). The alleged error if found to exist, in any event, was not of such a constitutional magnitude to shift the burden of showing the error was harmless to the State. Appellant bears the burden and must show he did not receive a fair trial because of the court's alleged error. Harrell v. State, 405 So.2d 480 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); United States v. Frady, supra. Certainly, if an erroneous jury instruction was not prejudicial to a defendant where he denied committing the crime and the instruction acted to shift the burden of proof, Frady, supra, there is no error where, as in the case sub judice, defendant denied committing the crime and a requested instruction was not given at all because it was irrelevant to the defendant's theory of defense.

Based on the foregoing, the judgment and sentence should be affirmed as to this issue.

### ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO THE STATE'S ALLEGED "GOLDEN RULE" ARGUMENT MADE DURING THE REBUTTAL PORTION OF CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Appellant contends the following statement made by the State in the rebuttal portion of closing argument was improper because it was a "golden rule" argument:

Mr. Baker then goes on to point out, he (James Hooper) said he walks into the apartment by himself. That's not consistent because Ms. Lewis -- or Mrs. Pruitt says Ms. Lewis walked in there with him. Ladies and gentlemen, if you walked up and the first thing you saw was your wife stabbed seven times, both jugulars cut, how much attention can you be paying as to who's entering the apartment with you? (Emphasis supplied)

He further contends the trial judge erred in overruling the objection and denying his motion for mistrial. This issue is easily disposed with.

Appellee submits that the prosecutor's comment was not a "golden rule" argument but rather a fair comment on the evidence which was invited by defense counsel's attempt to impeach James Hooper's trial testimony. In his closing argument defense counsel argued:

Ladies and gentlemen, let's examine James Hooper. Ladies and gentlmen, I was not there. I don't know if James Hooper was there. I don't know if James Hooper had anything to do with this murder -- these murders, but consider the following ideas: While he's up in Ohio making funeral arrangements for his dead wife and adopted daughter, he starts sleeping with Mr. Harold Hooper's ex-wife. That shows the depth of his grief . . .

Ladies and gentlemen, the Court's going to instruct you as to some factors to rely on when you determine the credibility of the witnesses. He'll tell you -- you are going to hear some of the factors: Did the witness seem to have the opportunity to see and know the things about which the witness testified?
. . . Did the witness seem to have an accurate memory? . . .

Ladies and gentlemen, consider all witnesses.

Consider why Jan Pruitt had to lie about seeing

Marsha Lewis go in with James Hooper . . . .

(Emphasis supplied)

(T 2463, 2471, 2475). The prosecution statement precipitated by defense counsel's attack on the credibility of James Hooper was not calculated to appeal to the sympathy of the jury or to have the jury abandon the "cold neutrality expected of them." Rather, it was a comment which came on the heel of defense counsel's closing argument and which was directed to matters in evidence. As long as the remarks are accurate and supported by the evidence or based on a reasonable inference therefrom, the fact the remark was florid or dramatic will not render it improper. Collins v. State, 180 So.2d 340 (Fla. 1965). Furthermore, the error complained of falls within the holding of Henderson v. State, 94 Fla. 318, 113 So. 689 (1924) wherein it was held that counsel for the defendant cannot provoke comments from a party or witness and then claim error.

Appellant cites <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), <u>cert. denied</u>, 103 S.Ct. 184, <u>rehearing denied</u>, 103 S.Ct. 482 (1982), in arguing the prosecution's statement exceeded the bounds of legitimate argument which in another case may have been acceptable. (Appellant's Brief at 41). Appellee submits the prosecutor's

remark in the case at bar was a logical inference from which the jury could draw from the evidence and its common sense and perfectly acceptable under the circumstances. This Court in <u>Breedlove</u> at 413 So.2d 8 said:

Wide lattitude is permitted in arguing to a jury . . . Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments . . . The control of comments is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of such discretion is shown . . . Each case must be considered on its own merits, however, and within the circumstances surrounding the complained of remarks . . . (Citations omitted)

The Court went on to say:

The judge refused to grant a mistrial, finding the state's argument not prejudicial due to the context in which the objected to remarks were made. Some of the remarks may have been improper, but we do not find them so prejudicial that a new trial is required. (Emphasis supplied)

The prosecutor in the instant case was only asking the jurors to draw on their common sense in understanding why, under the circumstances, James Hooper's testimony may have been inconsistent. The remark was provoked by defense counsel's argument and was a reference to a normal reaction for a husband who had just found his wife brutally murdered. Compare with Robles v. State, 210 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1968). Appellant, or any defendant, who commits so horrible a crime can hardly expect, under the circumstances, for James Hooper, or any witness, to be a model of calmness, a sponge capable of soaking up all of the goings on around him while viewing his wife's lifeless form before him and then have the wherewithall and presence of mind to later regurgitate every single detail exactly as taken in. This is the

Morriss v. State, So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), 9 F.L.W. 1239, opinion filed June 15, 1984.

thrust of the prosecutor's remark--a comment on the evidence and a logical inference therefrom already before the jury. It was not intended to arouse sympathy and based on the facts of this case certainly did not "influence the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would have otherwise done." <u>Darden v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287, 289 (Fla. 1976), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 430 U.S. 704, 97 S.Ct. 308, 50 L.Ed.2d 282 (1977).

Therefore, the trial judge properly overruled the Appellant's objection and motion for mistrial. The remark was not so prejudicial as to require reversal because of the context in which it was made. The judgment and sentence should be affirmed.

### ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUSTAINING THE PROSECUTION'S OBJECTIONS TO APPELLANT'S EFFORTS TO ATTACK JIMMY HOOPER'S CHARACTER BY REPUTATION FOR TRUTH AND VERACITY.

Initially, Appellee submits that Appellant has once again attempted to improperly bring an issue before the Court on Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment grounds. (Appellant's Brief at 43). These legal grounds were not raised in the court below and should not be addressed on appeal. Steinhorst v. State, supra. Moreover, defense counsel did not object at all when the trial court sustained the prosecution's objection to Appellant's attempts at attacking the character of Jimmy Hooper (T 2037-2038). Knowing that the prosecution had previously filed a Motion in Limine on this subject (T 2035) and that the evidence sought was probably not admissible (T 2036), defense counsel chose to move on to other areas rather than attempt to lay a proper foundation (T 2038) or proffer the testimony of the witness.

It is the long established law in this jurisdiction that if a court sustains an objection excluding certain evidence or testimony the proponent must make a proffer of the evidence or testimony in order that an appellate court can determine whether reversal is necessary or the exclusion was merely harmless. The rule is found in Boykin v. State, 40 Fla. 484, 24 So. 141 (1898):

It is the duty of a party appealing to an appellate court to make the errors apparent of which he complains; and where, in the examination of witnesses on the trial, any of his questions have been excluded on objection, and such questions do not in

and of themselves indicate whether the answers thereto will be material or pertinent evidence or not, it is his duty, in order to have the rulings thereon reviewed on appeal, to make an offer at the trial of what he proposes to elicit or prove by such questions, so that both the trial and appellate court can determine whether the proposed evidence is material or not; otherwise, he fails to make his alleged error to appear, and the appellate court will so declar. (Emphasis supplied) (Citations omitted)

While it is clear Appellant was attempting to impeach the character of Jimmy Hooper by use of reputation testimony of Jan Pruitt (T 2030-2043), what is not clear from the record is <u>how</u> Appellant proposed to accomplish it.

The prosecutor anticipating a defense attempt to impeach Jimmy Hooper filed a Motion in Limine (R 3151, T 2035). Said motion was based on depositions which involved individual acts as opposed to the reputation of Jimmy Hooper (T 2035). While defense counsel indicated he wished to make a proffer outside of the presence of the jury, he did not object when the court ruled the questions could be asked in front of the jury (T 2036). The following colloquy then took place:

MR. BAKER:

Q: Ms. Pruitt did you know Jimmy Hooper?

A: Yes.

Q: Did you have occasion to talk with other people in the Marsh Cove community about Jimmy Hooper?

A: Several times.

Q: Did you become aware of his reputation in the community for truth and veracity?

A: Yes.

MR. BURGESS:

Your Honor, I object. I don't think that is proper on reputation.

THE COURT:

Sustain the objection.

MR. BAKER:

Q: Ms. Pruitt, did the people you talked to, did any of them know Jimmy Hooper or indicate they had known Jimmy Hooper?

A: Yes they did.

Q. Did they express an opinion to you as to his reputation for truth and veracity in the community?

THE COURT:

Just a moment. Do you have an objection?

MR. BURGESS:

Yes, Your Honor, I have.

THE COURT:

The same ruling. I sustain it . . .

MR. BAKER:

Q: Ms. Pruitt, were you aware of his reputation in the community?

A: Yes.

Q: How were you aware of his reputation?

THE COURT:

If there is an objection I will sustain it.

MR. BURGESS:

I don't think we actually got that far. I still have the same objection.

MR. BAKER:

Your Honor, perhaps I could just move on.

(Emphasis supplied). Defense counsel did not thereafter request the court to proffer what the testimony of the witness would have been had he been allowed to ask further. He opted to move on without objection. Counsel's failure to object in light of the Motion in Limine falls squarely within the rule of law established in Boykin, supra.

Under the facts and circumstances of this case there is no support for Appellant's contention the cause should be reversed on this issue. It was incumbent upon defense counsel to raise a timely objection to the court's sustaining of the prosecution's objection to allow the trial court an opportunity to specifically rule on the issue. Appellant's deference to the court's rulings without objection and without proffer of the testimony makes it impossible for an appellate court to "determine whether the proposed evidence is material or not." Boykin, supra.

Recognizing that appellate courts cannot find reversible error in cases as the one sub judice this Court has stated a simple rule: "Reversible error cannot be predicated on conjecture", Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959); See Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974). Stated another way in the recent capital case of Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149, 1152 (Fla. 1979), this Court said: "This Court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary to his understanding of the law." While the latter case involved a discovery violation the principle of law is equally applicable to the case at bar.

Even if this Honorable Court finds the trial court erred in sustaining the prosecutor's objections, Appellee submits such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. While Appellant is entitled to a fair trial he is not entitled to a perfect one.

Bruton v. United States, supra; Lutwak v. United States, supra.

Of course, this Court will carefully scrutinize any alleged error

before determining it to be harmless. <u>Pait v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. However, it should not presume prejudice. <u>Salvatore v. State</u>, supra.

Appellee submits that Appellant's inability to impeach Jimmy Hooper by the testimony of Jan Pruitt would have been cumulative and therefore it was harmless to have been excluded. Appellant called another witness, George Charles Delmar, Jr., in an attempt to impeach Jimmy Hooper (T 2043-2053). Obviously, the jury chose to believe Jimmy Hooper when it returned with verdicts of guilty. However, even more compelling is the fact Appellant had a full and fair cross-examination of Jimmy Hooper thereby allowing the jury to hear and observe his testimony and thereafter determine his credibility based on the instructions given by the court (T 1432-1471).

Based on the foregoing Appellee asserts the court did not err beyond a reasonable doubt and Appellant has failed to demonstrate reversible error as to this issue.

### ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT RESTRICT OR PREVENT APPELLANT FROM PRESENTING A DEFENSE.

Appellant has again couched his argument in terms of Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment violations when these grounds were not raised in the trial court below. See Steinhorst, supra. Appellee will nonetheless address the issue raised by Appellant in the event this Court intends to rule on the merits.

Appellant asserts the trial court restricted or prevented him "from presenting evidence to the jury in support of his defenses

that either Jimmy Hooper misidentified him or James Hooper had a motive and opportunity to commit the murders." (Appellant's Brief at 47). The issue raised by Appellant in these regards is completely meritless.

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